



kinesitherapie

Masterthesis

Sil Luyten **Bjorn Swennen**

PROMOTOR :

UHASSELT **KNOWLEDGE IN ACTION**

www.uhasselt.be Universiteit Hasselt Campus Hasselt: Martelarenlaan 42 | 3500 Hasselt Campus Diepenbeek: Agoralaan Gebouw D | 3590 Diepenbeek

Faculteit Revalidatiewetenschappen

master in de revalidatiewetenschappen en de

The relationship between the psychophysiological stress response and daily functioning in post-COVID-19 syndrome patients

Scriptie ingediend tot het behalen van de graad van master in de revalidatiewetenschappen en de kinesitherapie, afstudeerrichting revalidatiewetenschappen en kinesitherapie bij musculoskeletale aandoeningen

Prof. dr. Katleen BOGAERTS

COPROMOTOR: dr. Stef FEIJEN



Faculteit Revalidatiewetenschappen

master in de revalidatiewetenschappen en de kinesitherapie

Masterthesis

The relationship between the psychophysiological stress response and daily functioning in post-COVID-19 syndrome patients

Sil Luyten

Bjorn Swennen

Scriptie ingediend tot het behalen van de graad van master in de revalidatiewetenschappen en de kinesitherapie, afstudeerrichting revalidatiewetenschappen en kinesitherapie bij musculoskeletale aandoeningen

PROMOTOR : Prof. dr. Katleen BOGAERTS copromotor : dr. Stef FEIJEN

Research Context

This master's thesis is situated within the ongoing research titled "Cognitive, psychological, and physical functioning in post-COVID-19 syndrome patients with different levels of fatigue" led by our supervisor, Dr. Stef Feijen. Our research falls within the domain of pain, fatigue, and somatically unexplained physical symptoms. The aim of our study is to investigate the relationship between the psychophysiological stress response and the daily functioning of post-COVID-19 syndrome patients.

The project is identified by the Clinical Trials Identifier NCT05758558 and has been approved by the Committee for Medical Ethics at Hasselt University with code CME2022/021 and by the Ethics Committee Research UZ/KULeuven with code S66200.

The COVID-19 pandemic, which occurred from 2020 to 2022, has garnered global attention. Given its significance, extensive research has been conducted on this topic. Published studies primarily focus on diagnosing COVID-19 and its associated symptoms during the acute phase of infection. However, there is limited knowledge about post-COVID-19 syndrome. It remains unclear why some individuals develop post-COVID-19 syndrome symptoms while others do not, and how best to manage them.

This research endeavors to contribute to a better understanding of the complex aftermath of COVID-19 and the development of targeted interventions to improve the quality of life of affected individuals.

As master's students, we have contributed to a research project led by Dr. Stef Feijen and utilized data from this project to address our research question. Every aspect of the master's thesis was discussed with Dr. Stef Feijen. We would like to express our gratitude to Dr. Stef Feijen for his guidance, expertise, and motivation throughout the process of this master's thesis. We would also like to thank Hasselt University for providing us with this opportunity. Furthermore, we extend our appreciation to our supervisor, Prof. Dr. Katleen Bogaerts. Finally, in writing this duo master's thesis, both students have made equal and substantial contributions.

Table of Contents

1 Abstract	5
2 Introduction	7
3 Methods	9
3.1 Design	9
3.2 Participants	9
3.2.1 Inclusion criteria	9
3.3 Procedure	. 10
3.3.1 Post-COVID-19 Daily functioning	. 11
3.3.2 Stress response on three stress tasks	. 11
3.4 Measurements	. 12
3.5 Data analysis	. 13
4 Results	. 15
4.1 Psychophysiological Stress Response	. 15
4.2 Key Predictors for Identifying the PCFS Scale	. 18
5 Discussion	. 19
5.1 Exploration of the findings	. 20
5.2 Strengths and limitations	. 21
5.3 Implications and recommendations for further research	. 22
6 Conclusion	. 23
7 References	. 25
8 Appendices	. 31

1 Abstract

Background: The COVID-19 pandemic has caused various physical and cognitive symptoms, with some individuals experiencing persistent symptoms that limit daily life and can lead to post-COVID-19 syndrome.

Objective: This study aimed to investigate the relationship between the psychophysiological stress response and the daily functioning of post-COVID-19 syndrome patients.

Methods: Participants completed demographic surveys, the Fatigue Severity Scale (FSS), and a Baseline COVID questionnaire assessing COVID-related symptoms. The Post-COVID-19 Functional Status scale (PCFS) was utilized to assess daily functioning. Three stress tasks were administered, measuring heart rate (HR) and galvanic skin response (SC). Heart Rate Variability (HRV) data was analyzed from electrocardiogram HR measurements. The Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) evaluated general cognitive symptoms. A multiple logistic regression model was constructed using the scientifically and statistically significant variables. Data analysis was conducted using the software program JMP.

Results: 30 participants were categorized as "high impairment" (n=25) or "low impairment" (n=5) PCFS. Baseline HRV low frequency (HRV LF_bl, p < .001) and high frequency (HRV HF_bl, p < .001) significantly predicted daily functioning. High fatigue score (FSS, p < .001) and dizziness as post-COVID-19 syndrome symptoms (p = .004) were significantly associated with higher functional impairments. No significant psychophysiological changes were observed during stress tasks or recovery phases.

Conclusion: There is no significant relationship between the psychophysiological stress response and daily functioning in post-COVID-19 syndrome patients, though a trend suggests a potential association.

Keywords: Post-COVID-19 syndrome, Post-COVID-19 Functional Status scale, Fatigue Severity Scale, Stress tasks, Psychophysiological stress response, Heart rate variability, Skin conductance

2 Introduction

SARS-CoV-2, a positive-sense, enveloped single-stranded RNA virus, causes COVID-19 and was first reported in Wuhan, China, in December 2019. The World Health Organization (2020) Director-General proclaimed the COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic on March 11, 2020. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), a total of 775 379 864 individuals have been infected with the SARS-CoV-2 virus (WHO, 2024). Approximately 10-20% of those infected with SARS-CoV-2 develop post-COVID-19 syndrome (WHO, 2023).

Many individuals, both hospitalized and non-hospitalized, continue to experience persistent symptoms after initial infection. In 2021, post-COVID-19 syndrome had been defined as the persistence of pre-existing or new symptoms occurring three months after the initial SARS-CoV-2 infection, with these symptoms persisting for at least two months without any other explanation. These symptoms typically have an impact on daily life (WHO, 2021). Being female, having poor pre-pandemic mental health, and having poor overall health were associated with a higher risk of post-COVID-19 syndrome (Thompson et al., 2021).

Reported symptoms of post-COVID-19 syndrome are very diverse, with a significant impact on the individual's health and quality of life. Fatigue, headache and cognitive impairment, commonly referred to as 'brain fog,' are prevalent symptoms observed in individuals recovering from post-COVID-19 syndrome. Physical exertion, stress, and dehydration have been identified as the primary triggers for these cognitive symptoms (Tabacof et al., 2022). Significantly more than half of post-COVID-19 syndrome patients indicated moderate to severe restrictions in their capacity to perform daily tasks; of these, 38% reported severe limitations in their capacity to work, and 33% reported moderate to severe levels of anxiety or depression (Mahony et al., 2022). According to Mahony et al. (2022), the most frequent complaint was exhaustion or low energy. Many people also reported eating and sleeping irregularities, difficulty concentrating, anxiety, and decreased interest in activities. Unfortunately, 17% of the patients reported having suicidal or self-harming thoughts at least once in the previous two weeks.

The psychophysiological stress response is used in quantifying an individual's reactions under stress and during recovery (Thayer et al., 2012). The psychophysiological stress response is often

measured using heart rate variability (HRV) and skin conductance (SC), which are reliable indicators of emotional responses, such as stress. HRV offers indirect evaluations of both sympathetic and parasympathetic cardiac autonomic activity, while electrodermal activity reflects the activity of the sympathetic nervous system (Bhoja et al., 2020). Associations have been identified linking occupational stress with a reduction in HRV (Järvelin-Pasanen et al., 2018). According to Tolin et al. (2021), individuals with social anxiety disorder exhibit increased reactivity in heart rate (HR) and skin conductance response (SCR) compared to those without the disorder, suggesting heightened immediate arousal in response to stressors. Additionally, anxious individuals demonstrated a reduced high-frequency heart rate variability (HF-HRV) response to stressors compared to healthy controls. Moreover, demographic factors also influence HRV. Research demonstrates that age and gender have an influence on HRV. More specifically, aging decreases the HRV. (Koskinen et al., 2009; Gerritsen et al., 2003). In a healthy population, the utilization of a less maladaptive coping strategy can be associated with the ability to keep the HRV at a baseline level when facing a psychosocial stress test. This could suggest that individuals employing an adaptive coping strategy possibly exhibit a more optimal regulation of the autonomic nervous system (A. V. Machado et al., 2021).

Post-COVID-19 syndrome patients often experience significant limitations in daily functioning. Previous research has linked stress with symptoms and limitations in daily functioning in fibromyalgia patients. It demonstrates an association between stress and increased pain, emotional fatigue, and challenges in engaging in self-care behaviors such as adhering to a healthy diet, maintaining regular exercise, or establishing connections with a supportive social network when experiencing stress (Waichler, 2023). However, the relationship between functioning and the psychophysiological stress response in post-COVID-19 syndrome patients remains poorly understood (Mahony et al., 2022). Consequently, our goal is to investigate the relationship between the psychophysiological stress response and daily functioning in post-COVID-19 syndrome patients, as we observed a correlation between HRV and daily life in fibromyalgia patients (Cohen et al., 2000). This, in turn, may facilitate more targeted research and treatment endeavors in the future for post-COVID-19 syndrome patients. In our research, we hypothesize that patients with low impairments in functioning (PCFS grades 0-1-2) will exhibit lower skin conductance and greater heart rate variability compared to patients with greater limitations in functioning (PCFS grades 3-4).

3 Methods

3.1 Design

This cross-sectional study was based on the larger study investigating "Cognitive, Psychological and Physical Functioning in PCS-patients with different levels of fatigue". Approval for this study was obtained from the Ethics Committee Research UZ/KULeuven and the Committee for Medical Ethics of Hasselt University (B3222022000817).

3.2 Participants

Within the larger study, flyers were distributed at nearby specialized private practices, written media (local newspapers), and private social media groups targeted for post-COVID-19 syndrome (Facebook, Langdurige klachten na COVID in Vlaanderen) during the recruitment process. Anyone who was interested in participating after COVID-19 would have had instant access to an online information document that outlined the requirements for inclusion in the study as well as the procedures that followed. After that, those who would like to take part could email the research team. Once the participant consented to participate in the study, two measurement sessions were scheduled.

3.2.1 Inclusion criteria

The recently published definition of the post-COVID-19 syndrome condition served as the basis for the inclusion criteria for study participation (WHO, 2021). Post-COVID-19 syndrome is defined as an illness that affects people who have been confirmed to have had SARS-CoV-2 infection. Symptoms usually appear three months after COVID-19 first appears, last for at least two months, and cannot be attributed to an alternative diagnosis. Although it was not required, participants were encouraged to submit their test certificate.

Furthermore, participants were required to report current persistent symptoms, such as brain fog, shortness of breath, headaches, and others, and indicate on the post-COVID-19 Functional Status Scale that these symptoms had an impact on their daily functioning. These symptoms could reappear following the initial recuperation from the acute COVID-19 episode or they could continue after the initial sickness, but they had to last for more than two months. Patients also needed to report experiencing significant levels of fatigue at that moment. The Fatigue Severity Scale (FSS) was used to measure the degree of fatigue (Krupp et al., 1989). The validated Dutch version was used to prevent language-related barriers (Rietberg et al., 2010). For practical reasons (insufficient number of participants), we did not exclude patients diagnosed with another condition from the study. In future studies, this is something to take into consideration.

Additional inclusion criteria were as follows:

- Age over 18 years old.
- Willing to sign the digital informed consent.
- Able to speak and comprehend Dutch.
- Must have tested positive for COVID-19, confirmed by either reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR), computed tomography (CT) of the lungs, or a symptom-based diagnosis by a general practitioner.

3.3 Procedure

Participants meeting the pre-defined inclusion criteria were eligible to proceed with further participation in the study. These participants were invited to two separate testing sessions to assess their cognitive, physical and psychological functioning. Participants were asked to sign an informed consent form prior to any measurements. Next, participants were asked to complete a digital or paper-based baseline questionnaire regarding demographics (gender and age) and fatigue. If they scored higher than 36 on the FSS, they were identified as individuals experiencing fatigue (Krupp et al., 1989). The participants were also required to complete a Baseline COVID questionnaire, which enabled us to assess COVID-related symptoms (muscle pain, dizziness, elevated resting heart rate, concentration difficulties, sleep problems, comorbidities, headache and anxiety). Additionally, a comprehensive post-COVID Functional Status assessment was required. The Body Mass Index (BMI) was calculated by dividing the weight in kilograms by the square of the body height in meters. Cognitive functioning was evaluated using the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA), a tool designed to assess general cognitive impairment across multiple domains including attention, concentration, executive functions, memory, language, visuospatial skills, abstraction, calculation, and orientation (Julayanont & Nasreddine, 2017). A score below 26 on the MoCA indicates cognitive impairment (Nasreddine et al., 2005).

3.3.1 Post-COVID-19 Daily functioning

The Post-COVID-19 Functional Status scale had been used as a measurement instrument in this study. The PCFS is a self-report measure that allows us to track how the illness was affecting daily functioning. The PCFS consisted of four questions that allowed the participants to be categorized into five groups (Leite et al., 2022). According to Leite et al. (2022), the people in PCFS grades 3–4 showed higher levels of fatigue symptoms, lower health related quality of life (HRQoL), and inferior functional performance when compared to those in PCFS grade 0. Furthermore, those with PCFS grades 1-2 demonstrated lower HRQoL compared to PCFS grade 0 participants, and higher functional performance compared to PCFS grade 3–4 individuals. The PCFS was recently validated by F. V. C. Machado et al. (2021).

Figure 1



The Post-COVID-19 Functional Status scale: a tool to measure functional status over time after COVID-19

Note. In this figure, the five scales of the PCFS are explained. Adapted from Klok et al. (2020).

3.3.2 Stress response on three stress tasks

The patients with post-COVID-19 syndrome went through a stress test comprising three stress tasks, with a total duration of approximately 15 minutes. Following these three stress-inducing tasks, there was a two-minute recuperation period. The first stressor to be administered was the Stroop color-word task (Van Der Elst et al., 2006), which lasted for two minutes. During this task,

participants were shown a list of words, each representing a color name. However, the color of the ink in which the word was written did not always match the color name that the word represented. For example, the word "red" might be written in blue ink. The participants' task was to name the color of the ink in which the word was written, rather than reading the word itself. The second stressor was a mathematical exercise where the person had to deduct seven from a predetermined amount (1081). To induce additional stress, the experimenter intervened by saying "wrong" or "faster" during the first 2 tasks. This task also lasted for two minutes. A stress talk was the last and third source of stress (Liao & Carey, 2015). The participant in this task had to talk nonstop for two minutes about a recent stressful event, detailing their feelings and ideas at the time. The timeline of the experiment is shown in Figure 2.

Figure 2

The Timeline of the Experiment



Note: R1 ,R2 and R3 = rest periods ; S1, S2 and S1 = stress tasks (Smets et al., 2018).

3.4 Measurements

To record the physiological response of the individual to the stressors, we recorded the participant's heart rate, skin conductance and breathing pattern continuously during the stress protocol. The only goal of these stressors was to cause a physiological reaction. To measure the respiratory rate, we placed one sensor just below the belly button and one sensor high on the thorax. Skin conductance was measured at 32 Hz. The electrodes were placed as distally as possible on the distal phalanx of the non-dominant hand. To measure heart rate, we used the electrocardiogram signal. This was measured by placing electrodes on the left and right just below the clavicle and on the left just below the lowest rib. This physiological response was evaluated using the Nexus-10 MKII device, which allowed us to measure a wide range of physiological parameters. According to Selvaraj et al. (2008), this device has been shown to

generate reliable data. The data we recorded would then be processed using Bio Trace+ software (Mind Media BV). Through this device, we were able to obtain HRV data derived from heart rate measurements. HRV was assessed using frequency domain analysis, a method that provides detailed insights into autonomic regulation and is particularly suited for short-term measurements. HRV_LF is regarded as an indicator of both sympathetic and parasympathetic activity, whereas HRV_HF primarily reflects parasympathetic activity. The HRV_LF/HF ratio is utilized to evaluate the balance between sympathetic and parasympathetic activity (Shaffer & Ginsberg, 2017). Additionally a baseline measurement for these variables was conducted prior to the stress tasks.

3.5 Data analysis

Analyses were conducted using data from 30 participants who completed the protocol. BMI data was missing for one participant due to dropout. One participant did not complete the Baseline COVID questionnaire. Analyses using the scores of the questionnaire were performed with data from 29 participants. Two other participants did not complete the MoCa test for cognitive symptoms. Psychophysiological data from the stress tests was available for all 30 participants. Due to the small number of participants in each PCFS category, the participants were divided into two groups for the PCFS: (low impairment) grade 0-1-2 (negligible or mild functional limitations), which accounted for 16.67% of all participants, and (high impairment) grade 3-4 (moderate to severe functional impairments), which accounted for 83.33% of all participants. These two PCFS groups were compared during the three stress tasks. The statistical software program JMP17 was used for the data analysis, which was carried out in two phases. Throughout all analyses, the primary outcome measure was the PCFS score, labeled categorically as 'high impairment' or 'low impairment'. Descriptive statistics were used to characterize the sample. We used frequency for categorical variables, means and standard deviations (SD) for normally distributed continuous data, and median and interquartile ranges for non normally distributed continuous data.

In the first phase, psychophysiological variables were assessed for their relevance as dependent variables in the model using simple logistic regression to analyze the effects of HRV and SC. HRV averages, calculated only for rest periods due to the influence of verbal activities (Bernardi et al., 2000), included HRV_Low Frequency (HRV_LF), HRV_High Frequency (HRV_HF), HRV_baseline (HRV LF_bl, HRV HF_bl, HRV LF/HF_bl), and HRV_Low Frequency/High Frequency (HRV_LF/HF). SC averages were calculated for rest (SC R1, R2, and R3) and stress periods (SC S1, S2, and S3), as

well as baseline SC (SC_bl). Variables were selected for the final model based on a p-value threshold of less than 0.20.

Post-COVID-19 syndrome symptoms were analysed, including cognitive symptoms (measured by the MoCA), fatigue (measured by the FSS), muscle pain, dizziness, elevated resting heart rate, concentration difficulties, sleep problems, comorbidities, headache, and anxiety (measured by a baseline COVID questionnaire). Furthermore, we also analysed three demographic variables: age, gender and body mass index (BMI). Again, variables with a p-value less than 0.20 were considered for inclusion in the final model.

In the second phase, the selected variables were integrated into a single model. First, the psychophysiological variables were added to the model, followed by the clinical symptoms. This model was refined using stepwise regression, and its adequacy was assessed using the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) and Akaike Information Criterion (AICc) values. The most suitable model was used for interpreting the results. Alternatively, we executed the same procedure but reversed the order of variable inclusion: first incorporating the clinical symptoms, followed by the psychophysiological variables.

4 Results

A total of 30 participants were recruited for this study. Table 1 provides an overview of the demographic characteristics.

Table 1

Characteristics of the participants

	High impairment	Low impairment
Age (Years)	48.16 ± 8.84	47.80 ± 12.38
BMI (KG/m²)	26.01± 5.40	27.84 ± 5.92
Female	17	1
Male	8	4
ΜοϹΑ	28 (26 – 29) ^c	29 (27 – 29) ^c
FSS	54 (51.5 - 59) ^c	41 ± 11.58^{d}
Muscle pain ^b	84%	100%
Dizziness ^b	44%	20%
Elevated resting heart rate ^b	vated resting heart rate ^b 40%	
Concentration difficulties ^b	60%	20%
Sleep problems ^b	52%	20%
Comorbidities ^{a,b}	48%	80%
Headache ^b	60%	40%
Anxiety ^b	24%	0%

Note. BMI = Body Mass Index; High impairment = grade 3 or 4 of the PCFS scale; Low impairment = grade 0, 1 or 2 of the PCFS scale; MoCA = Montreal Cognitive Assessment; FSS = Fatigue Severity Scale

^aThe subgroup "comorbidities" comprises diabetes, lung disease, heart disease, kidney disease, anxiety disorder, depression, hypertension, obesity, rheumatism, Parkinson's disease, stroke, osteoporosis, migraine, burn-out, chronic fatigue syndrome, chronic pain, dementia, thrombosis, peripheral vascular disease, multiple sclerosis, fibromyalgia, neck and/or back pain, liver disease, and contact dermatitis. ^bWere obtained through the Baseline COVID Questionnaire. ^cIs the median. ^dIs the mean

4.1 Psychophysiological Stress Response

The primary outcome measure used is the PCFS category. Five participants were labelled as 'low impairment' and 25 as 'high impairment'. As shown in Table 2, none of the psychophysiological variables were statistically significant during the stress tasks or during the recovery phases between the stress tasks. Figure 3 and 4 illustrate a trend suggesting a potential association between a lower PCFS score and a lower average HRV (LF/HF) as well as a lower HRV (LF/HF) at

baseline. Figure 5 and 6 show that skin conductance appears to be lower during stress measurements as well as during rest periods in the PCFS group 'low' compared to the PCFS group 'high'. The same result is evident in Figure 7 during the baseline skin conductance measurement. However, these relationships lack statistical significance. The remaining variables did not demonstrate any significant association or trend.

Table 2

Psychophysiological stress variable	ρ	
Avg HRV LF	0.799	
Avg HRV (LF/HF)	0.475	
Avg HRV HF	0.485	
Avg SC S1, 2, 3	0.421	
Avg SC R1, 2, 3	0.396	

Note. Avg HRV LF = Average Heart Rate Variability Low Frequency; Avg HRV (LF/HF) = Average Heart Rate Variability (Low Frequency/High Frequency); Avg HRV HF = Average Heart Rate Variability High Frequency; Avg SC S1, 2, 3 = Average Skin Conductance in Stress tasks 1, 2 and 3; Avg SC R1, 2, 3 = Average Skin Conductance in Rest periods 1, 2 and 3.

Figure 3

Comparison of Mean Average HRV (LF/HF) between PCFS groups



Note. Avg HRV (LF/HF) = Average heart rate variability (low frequency/high frequency); PCFS = Post-COVID-19 Functional Status scale; PCFS score 0, 1 or 2 = 'low'; PCFS score 3 or 4 = 'high'

Figure 4



Comparison of Mean HRV (LF/HF) at Baseline between PCFS groups

Note. HRV (LF/HF)_bl = Heart rate variability (low frequency/high frequency) at baseline; PCFS = Post-COVID-19 Functional Status scale; PCFS score 0, 1 or 2 = 'low'; PCFS score 3 or 4 = 'high'

Figure 5



Comparison of Mean Avg SC during stress tasks between PCFS groups

Note. Avg SC S1,2,3 = Average skin conductance during stress tasks 1,2 and 3; PCFS = Post-COVID-19 Functional Status scale; PCFS score 0, 1 or 2 = 'low'; PCFS score 3 or 4 = 'high'

Figure 6



Comparison of Mean Avg SC during rest periods between PCFS groups

Note. Avg SC R1,2,3 = Average skin conductance during rest periods 1,2 and 3; PCFS = Post-COVID-19 Functional Status scale; PCFS score 0, 1 or 2 = 'low'; PCFS score 3 or 4 = 'high'

Figure 7

Comparison of Mean SC at Baseline between PCFS groups



Note. SC_bl = Skin conductance at baseline; PCFS = Post-COVID-19 Functional Status scale; PCFS score 0, 1 or 2 = 'low'; PCFS score 3 or 4 = 'high'

4.2 Key Predictors for Identifying the PCFS Scale

After establishing the model with the best fit, multiple logistic regression indicated that the following variables were the strongest predictors of the model: HRV LF_bl (p < .001; OR, 1.009), HRV HF_bl (p = .001; OR, 1.014), FSS (p < .001; OR, 2166.619), post_symptoms dizziness (p = .001; p = .001; OR, 1.014), FSS (p < .001; OR, 2166.619), post_symptoms dizziness (p = .001; p = .001; OR, 1.014), FSS (p < .001; OR, 2166.619), post_symptoms dizziness (p = .001; p = .001; OR, 1.014), FSS (p < .001; OR, 2166.619), post_symptoms dizziness (p = .001; OR, 1.014), FSS (p < .001; OR, 2166.619), post_symptoms dizziness (p = .001; OR, 1.014), FSS (p < .001; OR, 2166.619), post_symptoms dizziness (p = .001; OR, 2165.619), post_symptoms dizziness (p = .001; Post_symptoms dizzines

0.004). These variables are presented in Table 3. There were no significant interactions between these predictors. The Akaike Information Criterion (AICc) value was 12.609. The Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) value was 16.837. The following assumptions were checked: multicollinearity and independence. The variables in the final model had VIF values ranging from 1 to 5, indicating a low to moderate degree of multicollinearity. All measurements were independent; no paired measurements were taken, and none of the participants were related to each other.

Table 3

	OR	Estimate	р
HRV LF_bl	1.01	0.009	< .001*
HRV HF_bl	1.01	0.014	.001*
FSS	2166.62	7.68	< .001*
Post_symptoms dizziness		-43.62	.004*

Key predictors for Identifying the PCFS Scale

Note. HRV LF_bl = Heart Rate Variability Low Frequency at baseline; HRV HF_bl = Heart Rate Variability High Frequency at baseline; FSS = Fatigue Severity Scale p < 0.05

5 Discussion

The primary objective of our study was to investigate how the psychophysiological response to stress and subsequent recovery contributes to daily functioning outcomes in individuals with post-COVID-19 syndrome. The psychophysiological stress response was assessed utilizing three stress tasks, while daily functioning was measured employing the PCFS scale. Contrary to our initial hypothesis, the findings of this investigation did not substantiate a statistically significant relationship between psychophysiological stress response and daily functioning in post-COVID-19 syndrome patients. A potential explanation may lie in the time frame of both the stress task and the recovery task, each lasting only 2 minutes. It is possible that differences become more apparent after a longer period. Another explanation for these findings could be the heterogeneity between the two groups and the small sample size or low number of participants in the 'low impairment' group. This was an initial exploration that examined the relationship. Further studies and analyses may yield more concrete results.

5.1 Exploration of the findings

Regarding the measured psychophysiological variables during stress and rest periods, no significant relationship was observed with the PCFS categories. Nonetheless, the data suggest a potential association, indicating that lower average HRV (LF/HF), lower baseline HRV (LF/HF), and lower skin conductance during baseline, stress tasks, and rest may be associated with a lower PCFS category. This could be explained by the assumption that a higher LF/HF ratio indicates a dominance of the sympathetic nervous system. During a stressful event, the sympathetic nervous system will get activated through a fight-or-flight response or a parasympathetic inhibition (Shaffer & Ginsberg, 2017). Increased sympathetic activity could thus indicate that these individuals experience more stress or encounter more stressful situations (Ziegler, 2012), perhaps due to the numerous limitations in their daily functioning. This could also explain why participants in the high impairment category exhibit higher skin conductance, as they have increased activity of the sympathetic nervous system, since according to Iwase et al. (1997), excessive sweating is caused by overstimulation of the sympathetic nervous system. More perceived stress can again be linked to daily functioning in the context of fatigue (Kocalevent et al., 2011).

In our study, we identified a significant relationship between baseline heart rate variability (HRV) measurements (HRV LF_bl and HRV HF_bl) and the PCFS categories. Interestingly, we did not find any previous studies that examined this relationship between baseline HRV and daily functioning in post-COVID-19 syndrome patients. Because many post-COVID-19 syndrome symptoms overlap with those of COPD and fibromyalgia, we can compare with the connection between baseline HRV and daily functioning in COPD patients (Komaroff & Lipkin, 2023). According to Van Gestel et al. (2011), HRV is independently associated with quality of life in patients with COPD. We also investigated the association of HRV in fibromyalgia patients, and from the study by Cohen et al. (2000) we observed a correlation between HRV parameters and physical function, quality of life, psychological well-being, depression, overall health, and physical pain in fibromyalgia patients. From this, we infer that HRV in fibromyalgia patients influences daily functioning. Therefore, HRV could serve as a crucial marker for monitoring and enhancing daily functioning in patients with post-COVID-19 syndrome.

Our findings highlight the significant role of dizziness and fatigue in explaining poorer daily functioning. The FSS demonstrated a significant relationship with functional status, which is

consistent with the results reported by Leite et al. (2022), who showed that individuals in PCFS grades 3-4 exhibited higher levels of fatigue symptoms compared to those in PCFS grade 0. This aligns with earlier research that found fatigue to be a dominant symptom among individuals with post-COVID-19 syndrome and that it impacts their daily functioning (Walker et al., 2023). In this study, they used the Work and Social Adjustment Scale (WSAS) to identify the patient's functional limitations. We observed a similar relationship in other conditions, such as COPD. Kouijzer et al. (2018) demonstrated that fatigue has a severe, negative impact on the physical, emotional, cognitive, and social functioning of participants. These limitations in daily functioning negatively influence the quality of life of patients and impose a significant mental burden, diminishing patients' joy in life. Therefore, we emphasize the importance of the need for treatments targeting fatigue. It is also crucial to increase awareness among healthcare professionals and patients about the existing impact of fatigue on daily life. Moreover, previous research suggests a significant relationship between dizziness and disability, affecting various aspects of daily functioning such as mobility, work, self-care, and communication (Rodríguez-Pérez et al., 2022). Thus, addressing dizziness and fatigue should be prioritized in the treatment of patients with post-COVID-19 syndrome to potentially improve their daily functioning.

Lastly, our study found no significant relationship between the PCFS category and demographic characteristics. This contrasts with the findings of Rodríguez-Pérez et al. (2022), who reported a significant influence of age on functioning and dependency levels. Gender, however, did not influence functioning, consistent with our results. These unequal results regarding age can possibly be explained by the significantly larger sample size of the study by Rodríguez-Pérez et al. (2022).

5.2 Strengths and limitations

To our knowledge, this is the first study investigating the relationship between psychophysiological data of the stress response protocol and daily functioning in post-COVID-19 syndrome patients. A wide range of variables was investigated on the basis of previous research in similar conditions. Furthermore, there was a low dropout rate, thereby resulting in minimal missing data that could potentially influence the outcomes. All measurements were standardized in their conduct. The sequence, location, and the individual conducting the measurements remained consistent throughout. The utilized scales and questionnaires have been validated in

prior research. The inclusion were carefully selected, aligning with the definition of post-COVID-19 syndrome provided by the WHO.

This study has several limitations that must be addressed. Firstly, the small sample size and the cross-sectional design constrain the generalizability of the findings and hinder the ability to establish causal relationships. Additionally, the uneven distribution of participants in PCFS categories one and two (16.67% vs 83.33%) may introduce bias into the results, potentially skewing the representation of outcomes. Furthermore, the stress tasks utilized may not have effectively captured the daily stressors encountered by post-COVID-19 syndrome patients, potentially attenuating the observed associations between stress reactivity and daily functioning. Furthermore, we did not exclude individuals with another similar condition, which means that the results could equally be attributed to this other condition.

Another limitation arises from the use of subjective questionnaires, which rely on participants' memory recall and subjective interpretation on their experience. Memory recall biases and the reconstructive nature of memory processes may influence the accuracy of reported symptoms, potentially affecting the reliability of the data collected.

Moreover, the day-to-day fluctuations in symptoms experienced by patients could contribute to variability in test performance and results. Addressing strategies to mitigate the impact of these fluctuations on data consistency and reliability in future studies is essential.

Finally, because post-COVID-19 syndrome is a recent phenomenon, there are few studies on the relationship between psychophysiological variables and post-COVID-19 syndrome. This makes it difficult to contextualize the findings, although comparisons have been made with COPD and fibromyalgia.

5.3 Implications and recommendations for further research

Longitudinal studies with larger cohorts are required to validate these findings and to clarify the direction of the observed relationships. In future research, it appears more appropriate to conduct measurements during periods of stress occurring in daily life rather than in a laboratory setting, as daily life presents different stress-inducing factors. This is because a laboratory environment may not adequately simulate the daily stressors that post-COVID-19 syndrome patients experience. Future studies could potentially involve participants who have no other

conditions besides post-COVID-19 syndrome, in order to exclusively analyze the impact of post-COVID-19 syndrome.

We can utilize these findings to develop a more targeted approach towards addressing the symptoms that adversely affect the daily functioning of post-COVID-19 syndrome patients.

6 Conclusion

Our study did not reveal a significant relationship between the psychophysiological stress response, measured by average HRV and SC during stress tasks and rest periods, and daily functioning in post-COVID-19 syndrome patients. However, we do observe a trend between these variables, which may indicate a potential association between the psychophysiological stress response and daily functioning. We also found that baseline HRV measurements were significantly linked to the functional status of patients, suggesting that lower autonomic flexibility is correlated with greater functional impairments. Furthermore, symptoms such as dizziness and fatigue emerged as strong predictors of poorer daily functioning among post-COVID-19 syndrome patients.

7 References

- Bernardi, L., Wdowczyk-Szulc, J., Valenti, C., Castoldi, S., Passino, C., Spadacini, G., & Sleight, P. (2000). Effects of controlled breathing, mental activity and mental stress with or without verbalization on heart rate variability. *Journal Of The American College Of Cardiology*, 35(6), 1462–1469. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0735-1097(00)00595-7
- Bhoja, R., Guttman, O., Fox, A. A., Melikman, E., Kosemund, M., & Gingrich, K. J. (2020).
 Psychophysiological Stress Indicators of Heart Rate Variability and Electrodermal
 Activity With Application in Healthcare Simulation Research. *Simulation in Healthcare*, 15(1), 39–45. https://doi.org/10.1097/sih.00000000000000402
- Cohen, H., Neumann, L., Shore, M., Amir, M., Cassuto, Y., & Buskila, D. (2000). Autonomic dysfunction in patients with fibromyalgia: Application of power spectral analysis of heart rate variability. *Seminars in Arthritis And Rheumatism*, 29(4), 217–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0049-0172(00)80010-4
- Field, A. P. (2009). Discovering statistics using SPSS: (and sex and drugs and rock "n" roll). http://ci.nii.ac.jp/ncid/BB05040852
- Gerritsen, J., TenVoorde, B. J., Dekker, J., Kingma, R., Kostense, P., Bouter, L. M., & Heethaar, R. (2003). Measures of cardiovascular autonomic nervous function: agreement, reproducibility, and reference values in middle age and elderly subjects. *Diabetologia*, 46(3), 330–338. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-003-1032-9
- Iwase, S., Ikeda, T., Kitazawa, H., Hakusui, S., Sugenoya, J., & Mano, T. (1997). Altered response in cutaneous sympathetic outflow to mental and thermal stimuli in primary palmoplantar hyperhidrosis. *Journal Of The Autonomic Nervous System*, 64(2–3), 65–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0165-1838(97)00014-3

Järvelin-Pasanen, S., Sinikallio, S., & Tarvainen, M. P. (2018). Heart rate variability and occupational stress—systematic review. *Industrial Health/Industrial Health*, *56*(6), 500–511. https://doi.org/10.2486/indhealth.2017-0190

- Julayanont, P., & Nasreddine, Z. (2017). Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA): Concept and Clinical Review. In *Springer eBooks* (pp. 139–195). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-44775-9_7
- Klok, F. A., Boon, G., Barco, S., Endres, M., Geelhoed, J. M., Knauß, S., Rezek, S., Spruit, M. A., Vehreschild, J. J., & Siegerink, B. (2020). The Post-COVID-19 Functional Status scale: a tool to measure functional status over time after COVID-19. *European Respiratory Journal/The European Respiratory Journal*, 56(1), 2001494.

https://doi.org/10.1183/13993003.01494-2020

- Kocalevent, R. D., Hinz, A., Brähler, E., & Klapp, B. F. (2011). Determinants of fatigue and stress. BMC Research Notes, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-0500-4-238
- Komaroff, A. L., & Lipkin, W. I. (2023). ME/CFS and Long COVID share similar symptoms and biological abnormalities: road map to the literature. *Frontiers in Medicine*, *10*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2023.1187163
- Koskinen, T., Kähönen, M., Jula, A., Laitinen, T., Keltikangas-Järvinen, L., Viikari, J., Välimäki, I., & Raitakari, O. T. (2009). Short-term heart rate variability in healthy young adults. *Autonomic Neuroscience*, 145(1–2), 81–88.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autneu.2008.10.011

Kouijzer, M., Brusse-Keizer, M., & Bode, C. (2018). COPD-related fatigue: Impact on daily life and treatment opportunities from the patient's perspective. *Respiratory Medicine*, 141, 47–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rmed.2018.06.011 Krupp, L., LaRocca, N. G., Muir-Nash, J., & Steinberg, A. D. (1989). The fatigue severity scale. Archives Of Neurology, 46(10), 1121.

https://doi.org/10.1001/archneur.1989.00520460115022

- Leite, L. C., Carvalho, L., De Queiroz, D. M., Farias, M. D. S. Q., Cavalheri, V., Edgar, D. W., Nery,
 B. R. D. A., Barros, N. V., Maldaner, V., Campos, N. G., & Mesquita, R. (2022). Can the post-COVID-19 functional status scale discriminate between patients with different levels of fatigue, quality of life and functional performance? *Pulmonology*, 28(3), 220–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pulmoe.2022.01.001
- Liao, L., & Carey, M. G. (2015). Laboratory-induced Mental Stress, Cardiovascular Response, and Psychological Characteristics. *Reviews in Cardiovascular Medicine*, *16*(1), 28–35. https://doi.org/10.3909/ricm0730
- Machado, A. V., Pereira, M. G., Souza, G. G. L., Xavier, M., Aguiar, C., De Oliveira, L., & Mocaiber, I. (2021). Association between distinct coping styles and heart rate variability changes to an acute psychosocial stress task. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-03386-6
- Machado, F. V. C., Meys, R., Delbressine, J. M., Vaes, A. W., Goërtz, Y. M. J., Van Herck, M.,
 Houben-Wilke, S., Boon, G. J. A. M., Barco, S., Burtin, C., Van 't Hul, A., Posthuma, R.,
 Franssen, F. M. E., Spies, Y., Vijlbrief, H., Pitta, F., Rezek, S. A., Janssen, D. J. A., Siegerink,
 B., . . . Spruit, M. A. (2021). Construct validity of the Post-COVID-19 Functional Status
 Scale in adult subjects with COVID-19. *Health And Quality Of Life Outcomes*, *19*(1).
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-021-01691-2
- Mahony, L. O., Buwalda, T., Blair, M., Forde, B., Lunjani, N., Ambikan, A., Neogi, U., Barrett, P., Geary, E., O'Connor, N., Dineen, J., Clarke, G., Kelleher, E., Horgan, M., Jackson, A., &

Sadlier, C. (2022). Impact of Long COVID on health and quality of life. *HRB Open Research*, *5*, 31. https://doi.org/10.12688/hrbopenres.13516.1

- Nasreddine, Z. S., Phillips, N. A., Bédirian, V., Charbonneau, S., Whitehead, V., Collin, I., Cummings, J. L., & Chertkow, H. (2005). The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MOCA: a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. *Journal Of The American Geriatrics Society*, *53*(4), 695–699. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53221.x
- Rietberg, M. B., Van Wegen, E. E. H., & Kwakkel, G. (2010). Measuring fatigue in patients with multiple sclerosis: reproducibility, responsiveness and concurrent validity of three Dutch self-report questionnaires. *Disability And Rehabilitation*, 32(22), 1870–1876. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638281003734458
- Rodríguez-Pérez, M. P., Sánchez-Herrera-Baeza, P., Rodríguez-Ledo, P., Serrada-Tejeda, S., García-Bravo, C., & Pérez-De-Heredia-Torres, M. (2022). Headaches and Dizziness as Disabling, Persistent Symptoms in Patients with Long COVID–A National Multicentre Study. *Journal Of Clinical Medicine*, *11*(19), 5904. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm11195904

Sall, J. S. (z.d.). JMP Statistical Software (17.0) [Software].

https://www.jmp.com/en_be/home.html

- Selvaraj, N., Jaryal, A. K., Santhosh, J., Deepak, K. K., & Anand, S. (2008). Assessment of heart rate variability derived from finger-tip photoplethysmography as compared to electrocardiography. *Journal Of Medical Engineering & Technology*, 32(6), 479–484. https://doi.org/10.1080/03091900701781317
- Shaffer, F., & Ginsberg, J. P. (2017). An Overview of Heart Rate Variability Metrics and Norms. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2017.00258
 Smets, E., Schiavone, G., Velazquez, E. R., De Raedt, W., Bogaerts, K., Van Diest, I., & Van Hoof, C. (2018). Comparing task-induced psychophysiological responses between

persons with stress-related complaints and healthy controls: A methodological pilot study. *Health Science Reports*, 1(8). https://doi.org/10.1002/hsr2.60

Tabacof, L., Tosto-Mancuso, J., Wood, J., Cortes, M., Kontorovich, A., McCarthy, D., Rizk, D.,
Rozanski, G. M., Breyman, E., Nasr, L., Kellner, C. P., Herrera, J. E., & Putrino, D. (2022).
Post-acute COVID-19 Syndrome Negatively Impacts Physical Function, Cognitive
Function, Health-Related Quality of Life, and Participation. *American Journal Of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*, 101(1), 48–52.

https://doi.org/10.1097/phm.000000000001910

Thayer, J. F., Åhs, F., Fredrikson, M., Sollers, J. J., & Wager, T. D. (2012). A meta-analysis of heart rate variability and neuroimaging studies: Implications for heart rate variability as a marker of stress and health. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews/Neuroscience And Biobehavioral Reviews*, *36*(2), 747–756.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.11.009

- Thompson, E. J., Williams, D. M., Walker, A. J., Mitchell, R. E., Niedzwiedz, C. L., Yang, T.,
 Huggins, C. F., Kwong, A. S. F., Silverwood, R., Di Gessa, G., Bowyer, R. C. E., Northstone,
 K., Hou, B., Green, M. J., Dodgeon, B., Doores, K. J., Duncan, E. L., Williams, F.,
 Collaborative, O., . . . Steves, C. J. (2021). Risk factors for long COVID: analyses of 10
 longitudinal studies and electronic health records in the UK. *medRxiv (Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory)*. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.06.24.21259277
- Tolin, D. F., Lee, E., Levy, H. C., Das, A., Mammo, L., Katz, B. W., & Diefenbach, G. J. (2021). Psychophysiological assessment of stress reactivity and recovery in anxiety disorders. *Journal Of Anxiety Disorders, 82*, 102426. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2021.102426
- Van Gestel, A. J., Kohler, M., Steier, J., Teschler, S., Russi, E. W., & Teschler, H. (2011). Cardiac autonomic dysfunction and health-related quality of life in patients with chronic

obstructive pulmonary disease. Respirology, 16(6), 939–946.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1843.2011.01992.x

Van Der Elst, W., Van Boxtel, M. P. J., Van Breukelen, G. J. P., & Jolles, J. (2006). The Stroop Color-Word Test. *Assessment*, *13*(1), 62–79.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191105283427

- Waichler, I. (2023, Oktober 2023). *Coping With the Mental Health Effects of Fibromyalgia*. Choosing Therapy: https://www.choosingtherapy.com/fibromyalgia-mental-health/
- Walker, S., Goodfellow, H., Pookarnjanamorakot, P., Murray, E., Bindman, J., Blandford, A.,
 Bradbury, K., Cooper, B., Hamilton, F. L., Hurst, J. R., Hylton, H., Linke, S., Pfeffer, P.,
 Ricketts, W., Robson, C., Stevenson, F. A., Sunkersing, D., Wang, J., Gomes, M., . . .
 Collaboration, L. W. C. R. (2023). Impact of fatigue as the primary determinant of
 functional limitations among patients with post-COVID-19 syndrome: a cross-sectional
 observational study. *BMJ Open*, *13*(6), e069217. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2022-069217
- World Health Organization. (2021, Oktober 6). A clinical case definition of post COVID-19
 condition by a Delphi consensus, 6 October 2021. World Health Organization:
 https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-2019-nCoV-Post_COVID-19_condition Clinical_case_definition-2021.1
- World Health Organization. (2023, Maart 28). *Coronavirus disease (COVID-19): Post COVID-19 condition*. World Health Organization: https://www.who.int/news-room/questions-andanswers/item/coronavirus-disease-(covid-19)-post-covid-19-condition
- World Health Organization. (2024, Mei 12). WHO COVID-19 dashboard. WHO Data: https://data.who.int/dashboards/covid19/cases?n=c

World Health Organization Director-General's opening remarks at the media briefing on COVID-

19 - 11 March 2020. (2020, 11 maart). https://www.who.int/director-

general/speeches/detail/who-director-general-s-opening-remarks-at-the-media-

briefing-on-covid-19---11-march-2020

Ziegler, M. G. (2012). Psychological Stress and the Autonomic Nervous System. In *Elsevier eBooks* (pp. 291–293). https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-386525-0.00061-5

